FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/13/2024
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

102883-1

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
3/13/2024 4:28 PM

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I

Case No. 843206-I

ANDERSEN CONSTRUCTION COMPANY

Appellant,

v.

REVITALIZATION PARTNERS, LLC, et al.,

Respondent.

In the receivership of: APPLIED RESOTRATION, INC.

APPELLANT ANDERSEN CONSTRUCTION COMPANY'S PETITION FOR REVIEW OF THE COURT OF APPEALS' PUBLISHED DECISION FILED ON DECEMBER 4, 2023

Joshua B. Lane, WSBA #42192 Ahlers Cressman & Sleight PLLC 1325 Fourth Avenue, Suite 1850 Seattle, WA 98101

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner, Andersen Construction Company, ("Andersen") asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' December 4, 2023 published decision ("Decision"). Andersen is a general contractor and a third-party to a receivership proceeding involving one of its subcontractors, Applied Restoration Inc, ("ARI"), with whom Andersen contracted to perform work on a complex construction project. Respondent, Revitalization Partners, LLC ("Revitalization"), was appointed as general receiver over ARI while ARI's work on the project was ongoing.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Andersen requests review of the Decision, published on December 4, 2024, as *Matter of Applied Restoration, Inc.*, -- Wn. App. --, 539 P.3d 837 (2023), (attached as **Appendix A**). The Court of Appeals' February 12, 2024 Order Denying Andersen's Motion for Reconsideration is attached as **Appendix B**.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Receivership Act, Chapter 7.60 RCW, was codified to enumerate and consolidate laws governing receivership proceedings, some of which were enacted by the Territorial Legislature over 150 years ago, and others which were developed through common law. Generally, the Receivership Act facilitates turnover of existing debts and payment of creditors, but it does not authorize receivers to take property in the form of payment from third parties pursuant to a contract without consideration of whether that payment is actually owed to the debtor under the terms of that contract.

The Decision here, however, creates a broader power for receivers than has ever been previously recognized by a Washington court. Under this Decision, a receiver has new authority to compel payment from third parties regardless of whether a debtor has any right to that payment under a contract. In turn, the critical protections the third-parties bargained for and negotiated within their contracts are eliminated, and third-parties

can be forced to turnover property which the debtor has no contractual or statutory right to possess, simply because the debtor ended up in receivership.

For more than 100 years, the Washington Supreme Court has held that a receiver steps into the shoes of the party in receivership and that the receiver has no greater rights to a third-party's property than the insolvent. The enactment of the Receivership Act in 2004 did not change this but *preserved* the limitations and restrictions applicable to receiverships under Washington law. In conflict with this precedent, the Decision interprets the Receivership Act as abrogating the common law: granting unchecked authority to receivers that exceeds the contractual rights of the debtor and eliminates the contractual rights of third-parties.

Moreover, the Decision permits such a turnover in the absence of the due process protections of an adjunct proceeding, required where the third-party disputes the receiver's entitlement

to turnover, and therefore conflicts with the Due Process Clauses under the Constitutions of Washington and the United States.

Additionally, there is a substantial public interest at stake regarding the protection of third-parties and creditors from over-reaching receivers. The published Decision has profound impacts, not only on the interests of contractors, but also of any third-party who contracts with a party that ends up in a receivership.

For the foregoing reasons, Andersen requests that the Court accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) - (4). The Decision presents the following issues for review:

- 1. In a receivership proceeding, whether contractual terms agreed to by a debtor and third party are relevant to determining whether property belongs to the debtor such that the receiver may compel takeover, or whether the Receivership Act renders the contract meaningless and grants a receiver unfettered rights to that property?
- 2. Whether there was a "bona fide dispute" with respect to the existence or nature of the receiver's interest in the property, requiring an adjunct and contested proceeding to determine the receiver's interest, as opposed to a summary proceeding, where the Subcontract terms entitled Andersen to withhold payment from ARI if ARI did not pay its sub-tier subcontractors, performed deficient work,

and the project Owner did not pay Andersen for the work?

- 3. Whether Andersen's compliance with a court order directing Andersen to pay funds into a court registry by paying out of its own pocket, in the absence of payment from the project Owner for the work, was sufficient evidence Andersen had "possession or control" of property belonging to the debtor as required by RCW 7.60.070?
- 4. Whether, under RCW 7.60.130(2), which provides in pertinent part that "the receiver's right to possess or use property pursuant to any executory contract or lease shall terminate upon rejection of the contract or lease," Revitalization could still seek payment of a \$177,858.93 Subcontract Balance for work it did not perform, nine months after it rejected the Subcontract?
- 5. Whether Anderson's claims for project completion damages were barred under RCW 7.60.130, which requires that claims for costs due to rejection of a contract be submitted pursuant to RCW 7.60.210(2) within 30 days of rejection, when Andersen had already submitted its entire claim for costs it incurred prior to the rejection pursuant to RCW 7.60.210(2)?
- 6. Whether the commissioner erred in rejecting Anderson's claims on the basis Andersen anticipatorily breached the subcontract by withholding payment from ARI, where Andersen was asserting its contractual rights to withhold payment and ARI and Revitalization committed the first breach?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Subcontract.

Andersen was the general contractor on the Quil Ceda Creek Casino Project ("Project"). (CP 592-616). The Owner of the Project was the Tulalip Tribes (the "Tribe"), and ARI was one of Andersen's subcontractors on the Project. *Id*.

Pursuant Andersen's Subcontract with ARI ("Subcontract") (CP-592-616), ARI received payment from Andersen by submitting monthly applications for payment for work performed in a given month. (CP 607). Pursuant to the "pay-if-paid" terms of the Subcontract, Andersen had no obligation to issue payment to ARI (nor liability for payment due), unless Andersen received possession of the funds from the Tribe ("regardless of the reason for Owner's nonpayment"). Id. The Subcontract expressly authorized Andersen to withhold payment from ARI for a number of reasons, including if ARI failed to timely pay ARI's sub-tier subcontractors, if Andersen had reason to believe ARI's work was incomplete or defective, or if the Tribe withheld or directed Andersen to withhold payment. (CP 606-607, 610, 614). In the event ARI stopped

work, any remaining Subcontract balance for work not performed would be offset against Andersen's claims for costs incurred to repair and complete ARI's scope of work. (CP 615).

The prime contract between Andersen and the Tribe (incorporated into the Subcontract) provided the Tribe with broad auditing power under which the Tribe retained control over the funds until Andersen paid the funds to ARI. (CP 592, 648).

ARI entered receivership March 31, 2020. At that time, ARI had stopped paying its sub-tier subcontractors on the Project and was performing incomplete and defective work (CP 72-74), meaning the Subcontract entitled Andersen to withhold payment of the April 2020 and subsequent pay applications. (CP 606-607, 610, 614).

B. Turnovers, Denial of Claim, Judgment

Although the Subcontract required ARI to timely pay its sub-tier subcontractors, ARI failed to do so for several months before it entered receivership. (CP 72-74; 610). ARI's pay application for April 2020 (the "April Billing") sought \$113,841

and included a certification that ARI had timely paid its sub-tiers amounts owed through present. (CP 88-93). Based in part on this representation, Andersen requested the funds for the April Billing from the Tribe, received those funds from the Tribe on May 29, 2020, but before issuing payment to ARI through Revitalization, Andersen learned ARI had not, in fact, paid its sub-tiers \$272,236.83 for work they performed from January – March 2020. (CP 65-69).

When the Tribe learned about the sub-tiers remaining unpaid in breach of the Subcontract and contrary to ARI's certifications, on June 4, 2020, the Tribe demanded Andersen return the funds for the April Billing pursuant to their auditing power under the Prime Contract, and Andersen complied. (CP 72-74). Andersen, in turn, notified Revitalization that no amounts were due under the Subcontract due to the Tribe's dispute of the payment and ARI's failure to comply with the Subcontract. (CP 99-100). Revitalization stopped work on June

4, 2020 (*id.*) and filed a motion for turnover on June 11, 2020. (CP 1-11).

The Commissioner granted the receiver's motion for turnover on July 7, 2020. (CP 134-36). The order granting turnover not only found that Andersen was withholding the April Billing funds — notwithstanding that Anderson returned that payment per the Prime Contract as required by the Tribe and did not have those funds in its possession or control — but it further held Andersen was required to turn over funds for the May Billing despite no evidence (or even claim by the Receiver) that Andersen had ever possessed or controlled the May Billing funds. *Id.* Andersen moved for reconsideration (CP 148-149) and revision (CP 549-550) and was denied.

Revitalization then moved for turnover of the May Billing funds, arguing that the Subcontract terms were irrelevant and RCW 7.60.070's requirements of possession and control were irrelevant because the July 7, 2020 order authorized turnover without regard to either the Subcontract or Receivership Act's

requirements. (CP 406-13). Andersen opposed the motion, highlighting that the Receiver's sole basis for entitlement to the April Billing funds was Andersen's temporary possession of those funds before the Tribe demanded their return, but there was no evidence that the Tribe ever paid the May Billing funds (nor claim by Revitalization that the Tribe ever made the payment) which was required by both the Subcontract and RCW 7.60.070. (CP 428-438).

The Commissioner agreed with the Receiver, disregarding the requirements of *both* the Subcontract and RCW 7.60.070 (requiring the third-party have possession or control of the property in question), and entered its November 3, 2020 order requiring turnover of the May Billing funds "without regard to whether Andersen received funds from [the Owner for] the May Billing." CP 552. Pursuant to this order, Andersen submitted the required payments for both the April and May Billing into the Court Registry. CP 588.

After Revitalization stopped work, Andersen was required to repair ARI's defective work and complete ARI's scope of work, incurring significant costs. (CP 587-590, 695-731). In the meantime, Performance Contracting Inc. ("PCI"), ARI's sub-tier subcontractor, filed a claim against Andersen's payment bond for \$281,770.34 for amounts ARI failed to pay to PCI. Andersen paid the claim as required by Andersen's Prime Contract with the Tribe. (CP 675-690). Andersen also directly paid \$100,243.89 to ARI's other sub-tier subcontractor, Salmon Bay, to avoid a pending payment bond claim and lien against the Project. (CP 632-662). The Subcontract was negotiated to protect Andersen from precisely these circumstances—double and increased payment for the same work.

In February 2021, Andersen submitted a timely amended claim in the receivership for costs incurred to pay PCI and Salmon Bay, and to repair and complete ARI's work on the Project. (CP 562). While Andersen's costs totaled \$1,119,303.38, Andersen reduced its claim in the receivership by

the amount of the remaining balance of ARI's subcontract (\$177,858.93)—i.e., what amounts Andersen would need to pay *if* ARI had performed the work—to a claim totaling \$941,444.45. (CP 577).

In May of 2021, Revitalization rejected the Subcontract under RCW 7.60.130. (CP 559-560). As Andersen had already submitted its full claim, Andersen did not have any additional claims against the receivership estate to submit at that time and any such claims would have been duplicative. (CP 569-586). In 2022, Revitalization filed a motion opposing Andersen's claims for payment of the \$941,444.45 (CP 561-568). Andersen opposed Revitalization's motion based upon the terms of the Subcontract and RCW 7.60.070. (CP 569-586; 587-801). The Commissioner granted the opposition in part, agreeing that Andersen was not entitled to damages for repairing or completing the work because Andersen had "wrongfully" withheld payment for the April and May Billings, and that Revitalization was further entitled to payment of the remainder of the Subcontract total (\$177,858.93) despite ARI not performing this work. (CP 807-808). Revitalization reduced its claim to the Subcontract balance to a judgment. (CP 846-847). Andersen timely appealed. (CP 848-872).

V. ARGUMENT

A. This Court's Review is Justified Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

Andersen seeks discretionary review in this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) because the Decision is largely premised on its holding that the terms of the Subcontract are irrelevant in receivership cases, claiming the statutory powers of a receiver supersede any contractual agreement between a third party and a debtor with respect to the property at issue. *See e.g.*, Slip Op. at 9 n.5, 10, 13, 15 n.8. However, in so holding, the Decision conflicts with decisions of the Washington Supreme Court and of the Washington Court of Appeals.

1. The Decision Conflicts with Supreme Court Precedent Holding the Receiver Steps "Into the Debtor's Shoes."

The Washington Supreme Court has consistently held that appointment of a receiver does not entitle the receiver to greater

or better rights than the debtor had. See e.g., Sumner Iron Works v. Wolten, 61 Wash. 689, 692, 112 P. 1109 (1911) ("The appointment of a receiver could not give the lumber company any additional contractual rights, nor deprive it of any old ones"); Roeblings Sons Co. v. Frederickson Logging & Timber Co., 153 Wash. 580, 280 P. 93 (1929) ("A receiver can acquire no other, greater, or better interest than the debtor had in the property, and to this extent the receiver has been held to stand in the shoes of the debtor.")

Contrary to this precedent, the Decision sets out a broad rule that the Receivership Act vests receivers with authority to summarily compel turnover of property from a third-party regardless of whether the property belonged to the debtor. *See* Slip Op. at 9 n.5, 10, 13, 15 n.8. ARI's right to payment from Andersen exists because of their contractual relationship, and the Subcontract sets forth the terms of how much, when, and whether payment becomes due. By holding that those terms do not matter, the Decision gave Revitalization greater rights to payment from Andersen than ARI had under the bargained-for agreement. It is not that the terms of a contract *trump* or *supersede* the receivership statutes, but, as stated in this Court's precedent, the

contract terms inform whether the property belongs to the debtor in the first place, such that the property is subject to receivership at all. The Decision's holding that a contract is irrelevant cannot be reconciled with this Court's precedent.

The Decision construed the Receivership Act as the source of the receiver's authority to compel turnover of property irrespective of the Subcontract. *Id.* While the legislature may supersede, modify, or abrogate the common law, "[i]t is a well-established principle of statutory construction that '[t]he common law...ought not to be deemed repealed, unless the language of a statute be clear and explicit for this purpose." *Potter v. Washington State Patrol*, 165 Wn.2d 67, 196 P.3d 691 (2008). A statute will only abrogate common law when its provisions "are so inconsistent with and repugnant to the prior common law that both cannot simultaneously be in force." *Id.*

No language in the Receivership Act indicates an intent so contrary or repugnant to the common law that they cannot coexist. The Court's holding was premised on its construction of RCW 7.60.005(9), defining "Property," and RCW 7.60.100(c), pertaining to the automatic stay. *Slip Op.* at 9, n.5. Neither statute states the receiver has a better right or greater title to the property

than the debtor had so as to demonstrate clear legislative intent to abrogate the common law.

To the contrary, the Washington Legislature enacted the Receivership Act in 2004 through Substitute Senate Bill 6189, which was the result of a ten-year WSBA effort to make receiverships more accessible to practitioners. The Final Senate Bill Report for SSB 6189 explicitly notes that "[t]he limitations and restrictions applicable to receiverships specifically provided for under current law are *preserved*." F. S.B. Report on SSB 6189 at 1, 58th Leg. Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2004) (emphasis added). Attached hereto as **Appendix C**. With the enactment of the Receivership Act, the legislature intended to codify existing law – it did not grant receivers entirely new rights, power, and authority exceeding those of the insolvent and contrary to decades of settled law. By holding otherwise, the Decision merits review.

2. The Decision Conflicts with Washington Precedent that Enforces Contracts as Written.

The Decision can be construed as standing for the absolute principle that the terms of a contract relating to property are irrelevant to the receiver's authority to demand turnover. *See e.g.*, Slip Op. at 10, 13, 15 n.8. Such a holding is contrary to

countless decisions wherein courts have held that, under the principle of freedom to contract, courts will enforce contracts as written. See e.g., Stocker v. Shell Oil Co., 105 Wn.2d 546, 549–50, 716 P.2d 306 (1986) (holding, when courts fail to enforce contracts as written, they "frustrate the reasonable expectations of the contracting parties and thus interfere with their freedom to contract."); Grey v. Leach, 158 Wn. App. 837, 850, 244 P.3d 970 (2010) ("Clear and unambiguous contracts are enforced as written.").

Although principals of equity may sometimes support a receiver's right to step outside a contract in cases of "fraudulent sales and transfers," that was not the case here. *See Western Electric Co. v. Norway Drydock Co.*, 124 Wash. 49, 60, 213 P. 686 (1923) ("The receiver, except as to fraudulent sales and transfers, is not vested with any higher or better right or title to the property than the insolvent had when the receiver's title accrued.") Instead, on one hand the Decision deprives Andersen of the rights it negotiated with respect to its payment obligations while, on the other, the Decision awards payment to ARI via Revitalization based on the existence of the Subcontract but contrary to the actual terms of the Subcontract.

Relatedly, by construing Andersen's actions of enforcing its contractual right to withhold payment as an anticipatory breach, the Decision further conflicts with precedent on the enforceability of contracts. Slip Op. at 16. The Subcontract undisputedly provides that should ARI fail to pay its sub-tier subcontractors, Andersen is entitled to retain those funds. CP 607. Despite this language, the Decision holds Andersen's claims for repair and completion damages were properly rejected because Andersen anticipatorily breached the Subcontract by *enforcing* this provision. *Id*.

An anticipatory breach is a "positive statement or action by the promisor indicating distinctly and unequivocally that [they] either will not or cannot substantially perform any of [their] contractual obligations." *Olsen Media v. Energy Scis., Inc.*, 32 Wn. App. 579, 585, 648 P.2d 493 (1982). To construe assertion of a contractual right to withhold payment (or any contractual right for that matter) as amounting to anticipatory breach renders bargained-for protections meaningless and unenforceable. Such a holding is not only contrary to precedent: it could also be weaponized to demand payment outside the receivership context where payment is not due. Fundamentally,

a party cannot be in breach, anticipatory or otherwise, if it is acting pursuant to the terms of the contract.

Because the Decision conflicts with law governing the enforceability of contracts, it merits review.

B. Under RAP 13.4(b)(3), a Significant Question of Law under the Constitutions of the Washington and the United States is involved.

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