FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/13/2024 3:21 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 102883-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

APPLIED RESTORATION, INC., ANDERSEN CONSTRUCTION COMPANY,

Petitioner,

v.

REVITALIZATION PARTNERS, LLC,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Faye C. Rasch WSBA # 50469 Wenokur Riordan, PLLC 600 Stewart Street #1300 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 682-6224

Attorney for Respondents Revitalization Partners, LLC

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

III. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Court of Appeals' turnover decision does not conflict with Washington's receivership statute and is premised on findings documenting Andersen's "wrongful" conduct.

Andersen's arguments for review nowhere acknowledge its "wrongful" scheme to avoid turnover that interfered with Revitalization's efforts "to maximize the return for all creditors." (CP 862) The Court of Appeals decision simply held that neither the commissioner nor the superior court abused their discretion or equitable authority in ordering turnover based on findings supported by substantial evidence—documenting Andersen's wrongful conduct. (*See* Op. 8-14)⁴ Far from being unprecedented, the decision is consistent with Washington's receivership statute, its constitution, and this Court's decisions, and raises no issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b).

"Chapter 7.60 RCW governs Washington's receivership scheme." *Jordan v. Nationstar Mortg., LLC*, 185 Wn.2d 876, 889, 374 P.3d 1195 (2016). "Chapter 7.60 RCW gives the trial court broad discretion over receiverships"—an equitable remedy—and appellate courts review rulings in receivership for an abuse of discretion. *Bero v. Name Intel., Inc.*, 195 Wn. App. 170, 172, 175, 179, 381 P.3d 71 (2016), *rev. denied*, 187 Wn.2d 1002 (2017); *see also* RCW 7.60.005(10) (A receiver is "appointed by the court as the court's agent, and subject to the

⁴ As the Court of Appeals noted, despite seeking review of the superior court's order denying revision of the commissioner's order denying reconsideration of the second turnover order, "Andersen offer[ed] no argument as to how the judge's order denying revision was an abuse of discretion." (Op. 10)

court's direction"). A general receiver, such as Revitalization, is "appointed to take possession and control of all or substantially all of a person's property with authority to liquidate that property and, in the case of a business ... wind up affairs." RCW 7.60.015.

This Court has long recognized that a receiver for an insolvent business "represent[s] the corporation and *all* of its creditors" and must act towards "the end that *all* creditors should share *alike*." *Tompson v. Huron Lumber Co.*, 4 Wash. 600, 607-08, 30 P. 741 (emphasis added), *aff'd*, 4 Wash. 600 (1892); *see also Gloyd v. Rutherford*, 62 Wn.2d 59, 61, 380 P.2d 867 (1963) (a receiver must act "for the common benefit of all parties in interest"); RCW 7.08.010 (requiring that assignments for the benefit of creditors be "made for the benefit of all of the assignor's creditors"). Receivership, like bankruptcy, ensures the orderly payment of creditors and prevents a scramble to seize a debtor's assets because "the race is not to the swift alone, when the prize is in a court of equity for equal distribution." *Tompson*, 4 Wash. at 608.

RCW 7.60.070 authorizes a receiver to demand that a person "turn over any property over which the receiver has been appointed that is within the possession or control of that person." RCW 7.60.070 also provides that turnover may be sought "by motion . . . unless there exists a bona fide dispute with respect to the existence or nature of the receiver's interest in the property, in which case turnover shall be sought by means of an action under RCW 7.60.160," which allows actions to be brought by or against the receiver in litigation "adjunct to the receivership case." RCW 7.60.160(2).

As it did in the Court of Appeals, Andersen disregards the commissioner's findings, adopted by the superior court, underpinning the ruling that Andersen had "possession or control" of property belonging to ARI, including specific findings that:

15

1) ARI was undisputedly owed over \$165,000 for its work after Revitalization's appointment as receiver. (CP 857-59, 868; *see also* CP 116-23, 417-20)

2) Andersen "had possession of the funds owed to ARI for weeks and withheld those funds to leverage its position." (CP 862)

3) The Tribe did not spontaneously cease payment for ARI's work—it did so because "Andersen took affirmative action to cause the tribe to cancel ... payment" as part of a "wrongful" scheme to avoid turnover. (CP 861-62; *see also* RP 13, 60)

As these findings confirm, the commissioner and superior court exercised their discretion and equitable authority to order turnover because Andersen induced Revitalization to have ARI continuing working on the project without paying for its work, citing as justification only its erroneous belief (addressed below, § III.B) that its rights should be preferred over the rights of every other ARI creditor. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with Washington precedent for the simple reason that no other case involves such outrageous conduct.

The trial court findings also eviscerate the factual underpinning of Andersen's argument that the Court of Appeals violated the principle that a receiver acquires no "better rights than the debtor had" and its contention that the receiver compelled turnover of "property from a third-party" that did not belong to the debtor. (Pet. 14) The commissioner explicitly found the turnover funds were "owed to ARI." (CP 862) Andersen's characterization of this run of the mill receivership ruling as a due process violation based on a "bona fide dispute" over "the receiver's interest in the property" (Pet. 4, 19-22), likewise ignores that the commissioner resolved that dispute and, after providing Andersen with notice and an opportunity to be heard, found ARI had the right to be paid for its work.

Andersen misplaces reliance on *Gloyd v. Rutherford*, 62 Wn.2d 59, 380 P.2d 867 (1963), which refutes its due process argument. (*See* Pet. 20, 26) In *Gloyd*, an officer of a manufacturing company appealed a turnover order entered after the trial court "construed the [parties'] contract and concluded that the [officer] was obliged, under its terms, to turn over a certain formula." 62 Wn.2d at 60. This Court affirmed and rejected the officer's argument "the court was without jurisdiction to construe the contract," recognizing the rule now codified in RCW 7.60.070: "that as against a party to the suit, an adjudication as to the rights of the receiver and the duties of the party in respect of the property impounded may be made upon motion." 62 Wn.2d at 60, 63 (quotation and quoted source omitted). This Court stressed "the exercise of such power is *not* a deprivation of due process." 62 Wn.2d at 62 (emphasis added).

Andersen's due process argument also ignores that both the commissioner and superior court recognized that Andersen could file an adjunct proceeding under RCW 7.60.160. (*See* CP 858-59, 865) Andersen never did so and instead litigated ARI's right to the turnover funds by submitting hundreds of pages of pleadings, declarations, and exhibits. (CP 50-103, 124-33, 141-47, 150-405, 428-545, 569-801, 812-24)

Andersen again disregards the commissioner's findings in arguing that funds it turned over for ARI's May 2020 work "had nothing to do with the Project" because the Tribe never paid it for that work. (Pet. 25) A trial court "has the authority to excuse a condition," such as the Tribe's payment, "where enforcing the condition would cause disproportionate forfeiture" or "if its occurrence has been prevented or hindered through a breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing." *Kilcullen v. Calbom & Schwab, P.S.C.*, 177 Wn. App. 195, 204-05, 312 P.3d 60 (2013) (citing *Restatement (Second) of Contracts* §§ 205, 229, 239 (1981)).

That is what the commissioner did here—it ordered Andersen to turn over the May funds "without regard to whether Andersen received funds from the May Billing" (CP 868) based on findings ARI was undisputedly owed for its post-receivership work and that the Tribe only stopped paying for ARI's work because of Andersen's "wrongful" conduct. (CP 858, 862; *see also* RP 60) The commissioner's ruling comports with both the law of contracts and the maxim that "[w]illful defiance of the court's authority can never be rewarded in an equitable proceeding." *TMT Bear Creek Shopping Ctr., Inc. v. Petco Animal Supplies, Inc.*, 140 Wn. App. 191, 206, 165 P.3d 1271 (2007).

Finally, in addition to denying review based on RAP 13.4(b), this Court should deny review because Andersen's arguments were "not appropriately raised before the Court of Appeals." *Peoples Nat'l Bank of Wash. v. Peterson*, 82 Wn.2d 822, 830, 514 P.2d 159 (1973). Andersen did not raise a due process argument in the Court of Appeals and, as the Court of Appeals noted, Andersen "offer[ed] no authority for its bald assertion that the terms of the subcontract control over those of the receivership statute." (Op. 10; *see also* Pet. 19-22)

This Court should reject Andersen's distortion of the lower court decisions and deny review.

B. The Court of Appeals correctly rejected Andersen's demand to offset pre-receivership debts against payments for ARI's post-receivership work as inconsistent with Washington law and the fundamental purpose of receivership—the equitable treatment of all creditors.

The Court of Appeals correctly rejected Andersen's argument that the subcontract entitled it to offset ARI's prereceivership debts against funds owed for ARI's postreceivership work because receivership necessarily alters the rights and obligations of a debtor and its creditors and because granting Andersen's offset would have violated the receivership statute by favoring Andersen over ARI's other creditors.

1. Like any insolvency proceeding, a receivership alters the rights of the debtor and its creditors.

The Court of Appeals properly rejected Andersen's insistence that it could ignore the receivership and determine ARI's right to be paid for its work solely by "the actual terms of the subcontract." (Pet. 17) Receivership, like bankruptcy,

"empower[s] . . . [the debtor] to deal with its contracts and property in a manner it could not have done absent the bankruptcy filing." *NLRB v. Bildisco & Bildisco*, 465 U.S. 513, 528, 104 S. Ct. 1188, 1197, 79 L.Ed.2d 482 (1984);⁵ see also In *re BankVest Cap. Corp.*, 360 F.3d 291, 300 n.14 (1st Cir.) ("Bankruptcy by design involves the re-ordering of debtorcreditor relationships and the adjustment of bargains negotiated under more optimistic circumstances."), *cert. denied*, 542 U.S. 919 (2004).

One of the ways receivership and bankruptcy alter relationships is by giving the receiver and bankruptcy trustee the right to assume or reject a debtor's executory contracts. RCW 7.60.130; 11 U.S.C. § 365. Under RCW 7.60.130(1), "[a] general receiver may assume or reject any executory contract or

⁵ Washington courts will look to bankruptcy cases for guidance when addressing insolvency issues. *See, e.g., St. John Med. Ctr. v. State ex rel. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 110 Wn. App. 51, 60, 38 P.3d 383, *rev. denied*, 146 Wn.2d 1023 (2002).

unexpired lease of the person over whose property the receiver is appointed" A general receiver's power "to assume an executory contract or unexpired lease shall not be affected by any provision in the contract or lease that would effect or permit a forfeiture, modification, or termination of it on account of ... the receiver's appointment" RCW 7.60.130(3).

"[M]ost courts agree that before an executory contract is assumed or rejected ... that contract continues to exist, enforceable by the debtor-in-possession, *but not* enforceable against the debtor-in-possession." *In re Nat'l Steel Corp.*, 316 B.R. 287, 305 (Bankr. N.D. Ill. 2004) (listing cases) (emphasis added). A debtor's one-sided right to enforce its contractual rights provides it "flexibility and breathing space" to determine whether it should assume or reject a contract. *Bildisco*, 465 U.S. at 532, 104 S. Ct. at 1199; *see also Matter of Whitcomb & Keller Mortg. Co., Inc.*, 715 F.2d 375, 378 (7th Cir. 1983) (a trustee ""is entitled to a reasonable time to make a careful and informed evaluation as to possible burdens and benefits of an executory contract") (quoting 6 Collier on Bankruptcy (14th Ed.) 576–80). Without this breathing space, debtors would be compelled to immediately cure all pre-insolvency defaults to preserve the right to assume or reject a contract, with the consequence that "if they later chose to reject, they would have been forced into granting a preference" since normally "any pre-petition defaults become unsecured claims against the bankruptcy estate." *In re Circle K Corp.*, 127 F.3d 904, 910 (9th Cir. 1997), *cert. denied*, 522 U.S. 1148 (1998).

Here, the Court of Appeals correctly recognized that once a receiver was appointed "the terms of the subcontract" did not "control over those of the receivership statute." (Op. 10) Accordingly, Andersen could not condition payment for ARI's post-receivership work on subcontract terms requiring payment of ARI's pre-receivership debts because as explained below (*see* § III.B.2), doing so would have violated the provisions of the receivership statute governing the priority of claims. (*See* Pet. 18) Indeed, the commissioner found that Andersen's demands caused the exact prejudice a debtor's "breathing space" is intended to prevent—it interfered with Revitalization's efforts "to maintain the work flow" and "market the business to an outside buyer to maximize the return for all creditors." (CP 862)

Andersen's argument that the Court of Appeals decision rendered the terms of the subcontract "irrelevant" and that it conflicts with cases enforcing contracts "as written" (Pet. 15-19) ignores that "the general law in force at the time of the formation of the contract is a part thereof." *Cornish Coll. of the Arts v. 1000 Virginia Ltd. P'ship*, 158 Wn. App. 203, 223, 242 P.3d 1 (2010) (quotation and quoted source omitted), *rev. denied*, 171 Wn.2d 1014 (2011). The Court of Appeals thus did not "frustrate the reasonable expectations of the contracting parties" (Pet. 17) but honored them by enforcing the receivership statute that was a part of the subcontract and that all parties understood would come into play if one of the parties was placed in receivership.

Moreover, the commissioner and superior court applied the terms of the subcontract governing the timing and amount of ARI's payments. The superior court denied Revitalization's first turnover motion because ARI's April 2020 progress payment was not yet due. (CP 246-47) The commissioner also heeded Andersen's objection that the subcontract was not a "time and materials" contract (CP 430) and limited the turnover funds for May 2020 to the amount of ARI's monthly progress payment, which was \$40,000 less than the expenses it incurred that month. (*See* CP 415-20, 469, 867)

In short, Andersen—not the Court of Appeals—disregards Washington law in insisting that receivership did nothing to alter its rights against ARI. 2. Permitting Andersen to offset pre-receivership debts against the turnover funds would have violated the receivership statute's requirement to give unsecured claims lowest priority.

The Court of Appeals also correctly recognized that Andersen's demanded offset of ARI's pre-receivership debts and its post-receivership payments was an improper attempt to circumvent the provisions of the receivership statute governing the priority of claims. (Op. 19) The receivership statute requires that all claims arising "prior to the receiver's appointment" be submitted to the receiver for a determination of whether the claimant is "entitled to share in distributions from the estate in accordance with the priorities provided for by this chapter or otherwise by law." RCW 7.60.210(1); RCW 7.60.220(1). RCW 7.60.230(1) sets those priorities, and generally requires pro rata payment of equal priority claims and gives general unsecured claims, such as Andersen's, lowest priority.

As the commissioner explained, Andersen's "demand[] that 'pre-filing' debts be paid from the 'post-filing' contract

payment" would require the receiver to "violat[e] the receivership statute by preferentially paying some pre-filing debts to the exclusion of other pre-filing debtors." (CP 862) See also In re Univ. Med. Ctr., 973 F.2d 1065, 1079 (3rd Cir. 1992) ("pre-petition claims against the debtor cannot be set off against post-petition debts owed to the debtor" because it "elevates an unsecured claim to secured status") (quotation and quoted source omitted); In re Delta Air Lines, 359 B.R. 454, 466 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2006) (where a debtor "performs work for a creditor holding a prepetition claim, the creditor may not set off its postpetition indebtedness against its prepetition claims") (quoting 3 Norton Bankr. L. & P.2d § 63:4, Part 11, § 553 (Sept. **200**6)). The commissioner's concern was not hypothetical— Wells Fargo has a security interest in ARI's accounts receivable (CP 7, 15) that would have been subordinated to unsecured claims if, as Andersen demanded, pre-receivership debts were offset against post-receivership payments.

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